


M I N u T E 
OF A 

C 0 U R T MAR T I A L, 
Affcmbled and held on board 

His MAJESTY's SHIP DIDO, 
In Halifax Harbour, Nova Scotia, 

s 

The 21ft Day of May, and b\' Adjournment until 
the 23d Day of May,' l788 : 

IN PtTR~UANCE OF AN ORDER FRO:.! 

HERBERT SAWYER, Efq. 
Rear Admiral of the White, and Commander in Chief~ &c. &c. 

Dated the 16th Day of May inftant, 

TOT R Y 

I S A A C C 0 F FIN, Efq. 
Captain of his Majelly's Ship the THISBE, 

ON A CHARGE EXHIBITED AGAINST HIM BY 

Mr. THO. HUCHENSON \VYNTER, 
Ma!l:er of the {aid Ship, 

For falfe Mufters in fevaal Inftances on the [aid 
Ship's Books. 
IN 1 T H -T H E 

MINUTE OF THE BOAP~D OF AD~dlRAL TY, 
A N l'> 

CAP T A INC 0 F FIN's 1\1 E :\1 0 RIA L, 

PRESENTED TO THE 

LORDS OF THE AD~IIRALTY. 

LON DON: 

H'.INTED IN THr: YE-}R 1\1.iJCc.lxx:n:~., 





Minutes of a CourtMartial,&c. 

PRE SEN T, 

CHARLES SANDYS, Efq; feniorcaptain 
of his l\1ajeO:y's !hips and veifels in Halifax 
harbour, preiident; 

Captains Sir JAMES BAReLA Y, Bart. 
PAUL MINCHIN, 
SAMUEL HOOD, 

EDW ARD BULLER; 

Being all the captains and commanders of his 
Majefty's Q1ips and veffds in Halifax harbour. 

T HE prifoner being brought into court at .. 
tended by the provoft martial, and all the 

witneffes, and every other perfon who thought 
proper to be prefent, being admitted, the court 
was fworn agreeably to act of parliament, the or­
der for the court's affembling being firft read, to­
gether with a warrant from the prefident, appoint­
ing Mr. John Tyfon to execute the Office of de­
puty judge advocate on this occafion, the judge 
advocate of the fleet and his deputy being abfent. 
The annexed letter from Mr. Thomas H uchenfon 
Wynter to Herbert Sawyer, Efq; rear admiral of 
the white, and commander in chi.::f, &c. &c. &c, 
dated the 28th Oaober, 1787. per log, and con­
taining the charges againa the prifoner, was the~. 
read; and all the witneffes being ordered to with­
draw, the pro[ecutor wanted to exhibit another 

A 2. chargf.:' 
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charC7e atyainft the prifc,>ner, which was refufed ; 
and ~he ~ourt, being cleared, gave it as their 
opinion, that no charge whatever againft the pri­
foner can be received, Gut fuch as is Hated in the 
profecutor's letter to the commander in chief. 

The court being then opened, 

Mr. THOMAS RUSSELL, captain's c1erk-f>( 
his MJjci',y's {hip the Thillie, was fWOI D, 

and examined as [ol1o\,s. 

Profecutor.-~eftion. In the latter end of 
Ot10ber laft, did you not bring me the Thillie's 
Monthly Book for Auguft and September, 1787, 
and tell me the captain defired I would fign it ? 

Anfwer. Yes. 
Q. \\' hat anfwer did I make you? 
A. As ncar as I can recalled I met you com­

ing out of the gun-room; you defired I would 
lea.ve the book upon your bureau, -and you fhould 
b~ down prefently. 

Q. \Vas that book figned by captain Coffin? 
A. Yes. 

Q:.. \Y JS not John Francis, able feaman, muf­
tered on that bovk, the whole time the book wai 
made for? 

A. Yes. 
~ Do you know if John Francis was on board 

the ihip in the months of Auguft and Sept. laft? 
A. I believe not. 

Q. \Vas not Chriftopher Carleton and Thomas 
Carleton rated able feamen in the fame hook, and 
muftered for the whole time they were rated a.; 

A. Yes. 

0..:. On 
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<2.:.. On what day were they rated able feamen ? 
A. Some time in the month of Augufl: 1aft, 

but I do not recollect the day . 

. Q Did you ever fee them on board the Cnip. 
during the time the Monthly Book was made for? 

A. No. .. 

~ \'Yere not the names of Guy Carleton and 
George Carleton borne as captain's fervJnts on 
the fame book, and muftered from the day they 
were entered until the end of Septemb::r ? 

A. Yes. 
~ On what day were they entered? 
A. On the day the other were rated able. 

Q. Did you ever fee them on board the 01ip any 
part of the time they were muftered on rhat book? 

A. No. 
~ Some time after you had gi ven me that book, 

did you not ail< me if I had figned it? 
A. Yes, I aiked you two or three times after I 

gave it to you, in the courfe of the afternoon. 

Q.. What anfwer did I make you? 
A. You firft told me, you had not looked over 

it; the laft .an[wer you gave me was, that thoi~ 
Carletons were not on board, and that you would 
not fign the book. 

~ On the fame day, did not captain Coffin, 
under the half deck, in your prefLI1CC, alk my 
reafons for refufing to fign the Monthly Book? 

A. He aiked you what objections you· had to 
figning it. 

0..:. What anfwer did I make hi:n? 
A. A fimilar anfwer to wh3t you had made me, 

but I do not exactly recollect it. 
Cl- Do 
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Q_ Do you not' recolleCt the conver(ation. that 
V;}::'j between captain Coffin and me at that tune? 

A. Captain Coffin * aiked you if the Carletons 
were (:o~ on the fpot, the !hip being along-fide the 
King's whlrf: you ani\vered. that the ihip had 
been at fea for fome time. ~ome other converfa­
tion paIred at the rime, which I do not imme~ 
diately recolleCt, but it ended in captain Coffin's 
ordering me to lYJJ.;..:e out another Monthly Book. 

Q \Vas not the !hip at rea during the greatefi: 
part of Auguft and September laft ? 

A. She was in the river and gulph of St. 
Lawrence. 

This witners was then direaed to withdraw, 
and Mr. ROBERT N~WBERRY, furgeol1 
of his Majefty's Ship 'Thifbe, was called 
into COllrt and fworn. 

Profecutor.-Q. In the latter end of Oaober 
taft, did I not, in the Thifbe's gun-room, requeft 
you to remark the circumftances which I told 
you had induced me to rdufe figning the Monthly 
Bl)(lk f()r ~\ llgll ft and September hit ? 

A. Yes, 

Q \V:.~ not C!lriftopher Carleton and Thomas 
C'<eCOll Llted able {eamen in the fame Book. and 
muitLred for the whole time they were rated? 

* N, 'R. This is incontroycrtil+:, and Ibews the captain's 
i,l":J'" that t1,,~ form of 0[<' ~rill:; the young men to appear to a 
1.,,,1;,'\ "1;,::1'.t be difpenfcd with upon the notoriety of the faa, 
tbt ,i',' wert upon the [pot, and might hal'e app~ared; but as 
t!", •. i'i '('0,,,1 II :1, made:u a dilbnt period, and the omiffion for 
f!',' p : time could not b.': rc8:ihed but by a currcc1ion of the 
LUl';. 1..1, ,: Look \\ J~ ((ll ,t~kd. 

A. They 
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A. They were. 

Court.-Q How do you know they were 
mufrered? 

A. I anfwer, confidering the letters to be a 
proof. 

Profecutor.-Q On what day were they en­
tered as able feamen ? 

A. The 19th day of Augufi, per log, to the beft 
of my recollection. 

Q. Did you ever fee them on board during thofe 
months? 

A. I never did. 

Court-Q Do you know if thofe people were 
()n the fpot ? 

A. No, I do not know. 

Profccutor.-Q. Were not the names of Guy 
Carlecon and George Carleton borne as captain's 
fervants on the fame book. and muttered from the 
time they were entered until the end of September? 

A •. They had the letters as the others had. 

Q. What day were they entered? 
A. The 19th day of Augufr, per log, as well as 

I can recolleCt. 

Court.-Q Do you know that thofe people 
were never on board at the times you have been 
on fuore with leave? 

A. I do not. 

Q. Were you ever out of the 1hip on leave in 
thofe two months? 

A. I believe I have frequently. 

J?rofecu tor.~Q;. Whether John Francis, able 
[eaman, 
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feaman, was not muO:ered on the book for the 
who!e time it was made forr 

A. He was. 

Q. Do y()U know if John Francis was on board 
the £hip in the months of Auguft and September 
laO: ? 

A. I do not know, I never faw him. 

Q What time did John Francis return to the 
!hip? 

A. I do not remember the dav, but it was fome 
time before the fuip came from' the wharf in the 
latter end of A pri!. 

Court.-Q. Do you know whether the Monthly 
Books alluded to, were fent home figned by the 
officers? 

A. I do not. 

Prifoner.-Q.. You fpeak of the mufter !etter, 
what was it? 

A. The firft letter againft them, to the beft of 
my recollection, was I, and the letters following 
to O. 

This witnefs was now ordered to withdraw, and 
Mr. THOMAS TWYSDEN, fecond lieu­
tenant of his Majefty's fuip Thifbe, was.called 
in and [worn. 

Profecutor.-Q. Tn the latter end of October 
laft, did 1 not, in the Thifbe's gun-room, requeft 
you to remark the circumftances which I told you 
hid induced me to refufe figning the Monthly 
Book for Auguft: and September !aft ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was not Chriftopher Carleton and Thomas 
Carleton 
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Carleton rated able feamen in the fame book, and 
rnu(tered for the whole time they were rated? 

A. Yes. 

Q On what day were they rated? 
A. On the 19th day of Augufl: per log. 

0.:. Did you ever fee them on board the fhip 
during thofe months? 

A. No. 

Court.-Q Were you ever out of the fhip in 
thofe months? 

A. I was on Glore occafionally on leave. 

QDo you know, that, during the time you were 
on {hore, thofc people had never been on board? 

A. I never heard they had. 

<:t. Might they not have been on board, and yeu 
have never heard of it ? 

A. I fuould think they might. 

Profecutor.-Q Were not the names of Guy 
Carleton and George Carleton borne as captain's 
fervants on the fame book, and mu(tered hom the 
day they were borne until the latter end of Sep­
tember? 

A. Yes. 

~ On what day were they entered? 
A. On the 19th day of Auguft per log. 

Q Did you ever fee them on board the 1hip 
during thofe months r 

A. No. 
Court.-Q Do you know they were not on 

board in thofe months? 
A~ I never heard they had been on board. 

B Pro-
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Profecutor.-Q. Was not John Francis, able 
fe:lman, muftered on that book the whole time it 
was made for? 

A. Yes. 

Q Do you know if John Francis was on board 
the fhip in the months of Auguft and September 
laft ? 

A. I never faw him on board. 

Court-Q. Might he not have been on board 
while you were on thore on leave, without your 
knowledge? 

A. I think he might. 

Prifoner.-Q You mention the circumftance5 
of Thomas and Chriftopher Carleton being muf. 
tered as Ab. and Guy and George Carleton as 
captain's fervants, pray do you remember the muf­
tel" letters? 

A. I do. 

Q \Vhat were they? 
A. The letters on the book were, I, K, L, M, 

N, O. 

Court.-Q. Do you know that the Monthly 
Books for thofe months were fent to the Navy Of· 
fice figned by the different officers, and whether 
thol~ people had thofe letters that you have before 
mentioned againft them in the book? 

A. I really do not know. 

This evidence was then ordered to withdraw, 
~nd 1\11'. JOSEPH TURNER, firft lieute­
~lant of his Majefty's !hip the Thifbe,. w.as 
called and [worn. 

Pro-
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Profecutor.-Q In the latter end of Oaober 
laft, did I not, in the Thifbe's gun-room, requeO: 
you to remark the circumftances which I told you 
had induced me to refufe figning the Monthly 
Book for Auguft and September laft ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Was not Chriftopher Carleton and Thomas 
Carleton rated able [eamen on the fame book, and 
muftered for the whole time they were rated? 

A. They certainly were. 

Q What day were they rated as able [eamen ~ 
A. The 19th day of Auguft, 1787, per log. 

Q. Did you ever fee them on ,board the fhip in 
thofe months? 

A. Never. 

Q Were not the names of Guy Carleton and 
George Carleton borne as captain's fervants on the 
fame book, and muftered from the day they were 
encered until the end of Septemuer ? 

A. Yes. 

Q What day were they entered? 
A. On the 19th day of Auguft, 1787, perlog. 

Q Did you ever fee them on board the fhip 
during thofe two monchs ? 

A. Never. 

Q Was not John Francis muftered on that book 
the whole time the book was made for? 

A. I obferved that he had eight l11ufterletters. 

Q Do you know if John Francis was ever on 
board in the months of Augufr and September 
laft ? _ 

A. Never, to the beft of my knowledge; the 
Jatl: day of July was the 1aft day I faw him. 

B 2 Court. 
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Court.-Q... Were you ever on fuore In the 
months of Augull: and September laft ? 

A. I believe I was. 

Q Do you know that thore people the pro­
fecutor alludes to were never on board during the 
times you were on !hore? 

A. This I cannot fay, but firmly believe to the 
contrary. 

Profectltor.-Q. 'What time did John Francis 
return to the 1bip? 

A. I well remember it was on the 2. I ft day of 
April, 1788, per log. 

Court.-Q Do you know whether any Monthly 
Books for the months of Auguft and September 
are gone home? 

A. I do not. 

This evidence was then ordered to withdraw, 
and Mr. WILLIAM DARLEY, lieutenant 
of marines on board his Majefly's !hip Thif: .. 
be, was called into court, and fworn. 

Profecutor.-Q In the latter end of October 
la{f, did I not, in the Thifbe's gun-room, requeft 
YOll to remark the circumftances that I told you, 
had induced me to refufe figning the Monthly 
Book for Auguft and September laft ? 

A. You did. 

Q, Were not Chriftoper Carleton and Thomas 
Car!eton rated able feameo on the fame book, and 
muftered for the whole time they were rated? 

A. They were what I underftaod to be fo. 

Q On what day were they entered as able 
teamen? 

A. To 
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A. To the befr of my remembrance, on the 19th 
day of Augufr, 1787, per log. 

Q.. Did you ever fee them on board the {hip in 
thofe months? 

A. No. 

Court.-Q Might they not have been on board 
and you not have feen them? 

A. They might. 

Q. Do you know that they never were on board 
during times you have been abfenc from the 
!hip? 

A. No, not of my own knowledge. 

Profecutor.-Q Were not the names of Guy 
eadeton and' George Carleton borne as captain's 
fervants on the fame book, and mul1:ered from 
the day they were entered until the end of Sep­
tember? 

A. They were. 

Q On what day were they entered? 
A. The fame date, as well as I can remember, 

as the others. 

Q Did you ever fee them on board the {hip 
during thofe months? 

A. No. 

Q Was not John Francis) able feaman, muf­
tered on that book the whole time the books were 
made for? \ 

A. He was what I underftaad to be fo. 

Q Do you know if John Francis \~ as on board 
the fhip in the menths of Auguit and September 
1aft ? 

A. From the [econd day of Auguft I t:link he 
was 



[ 14 J 
was not; becaufe, if I mifrake not, we went down 
the river at that time, and left him behind, to the 
bell: of my knowledge. 

Court.-Q Were you at any time abfent from 
the 1hip between the 2d day of Auguft and the laft 
of September? 

A. I believe I might bve been. 

Q Are you fure the 1hip was abfent from ~e­
bee during thofe two months? 

A. I did not remark the period of her return to 
~ebee. 

Q You fay that you have been on 1hore fre­
quently in thofe months, might not J&hn Francis 
have been on board in that time? 

A. If during the period mentioned the 1hip was 
~t ~ebec1 there is a pollibility that he might. 

This wienefs was alfo ordered to withdraw, and 
Mr. WILLIAM MOORE, purfer of his 
Majefiy's ihip the ThiJb~, was called into 
court and [worn. 

Profecutor.-Q Did you not, on the 2,th day 
of October, 1787, per log, go with the captain's 
clerk about 8 o'clock in the morning with the 
Monthly Book for Auguft and September to cap­
tain Coffin's lodgings to have it altered? 

A. I do not remember ever going with the cap .. 
tain's clerk and the Monthly Book to captain Cof­
fin's lodgings. 

Q... Were the Monthly Books for Auguft and 
September ever altered? 

A. I believe they were altered. 

Q. Did 
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Q. Did you fign thofe books after they were 
altered? 

A. Yes. 

Q Were Thomas and Chriftopher Carleton, 
able feamen, on chofe;: books you figned? 

A. No. 

Q Were Guy or George Carleton, fervants? 
A. No, to the beft of my recollection they were 

not. 

0..:.. Were the mufter letters taken off from John 
Francis in that book you figned ? 

A. He was not muftered in thofe Monthly 
Books. 

Court.-Q You have heard the charge? 
A. Yes. 

Q Are the Monthly Books for Auguft and 
September laft gone co the Navy Office? 

A. I believe they are. 

Q.. Were thofe Monthly Books figned by the 
captain and officers? 

A. Yes. 

'Q Were chofe people, alluded to in the charge 
by the profecutor, chequed or muftered in the 
?vIonthly Books for Auguft and September laft ? 

A. John Francis was chequed abfent with leave, 
and none of them were muftered as reprefented in 
the charge. 

Here this witnefs was ordered to withdraw, and 
Mr. THOMAS RUSSELL, captain's clerk 
of the Thifbe, was again called by order of 
the CQurt, an~ examined ai follows: 

Court. 
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Court.- Q. Have you heard the charge? 
A. Yes. 

Q Are the Monthly Books for the months ot 
Auguft and September lall:,gone to the NavyOffice, 
Iigned by the captain and officers? 

A. Yes. 

Q Were the people, alluded to in the charge 
by the profecutor, chequed or muftered in the 
Monthly Book for Augufl: and September 1aft? 

A. John Francis was chequed, Thomas and 
Chriftopher CHleton were erated from their qua1i~ 
fications as able feamen, and rem,,-ined with the 
rating of fervams as they were before, and George 
and Guy Carleton were not on the books that were 
fent home. 

Here the profecutor propofed aiking the \vitnefs 
a further queftion, when the court was cleared 
to confult on the propriety of his examining 
the witners a fecond time, when he had before 
declared he had no further quell:ions to alk 
him, and agree, if the prifoner has no objec .. 
tions they will admit of it. 

Court opened. 

Profeclltor.-Q Was that the {Jmc book that 
I Iigned, that you brought to me at firll: ? 

A. It was, except with the difference of the al­
terations which I have already rdated. 

Pri[oner.-Q. \Vere not thofe alterations made 
the inftant the mailer pointed out the errors that 
fubGll:ed in the book, by my command? 

A. As foon as Mr. Wynter fiated his objeCl:ions, 
you ordered me to make the alterations immediately, 

and 
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and I.made them the fame afternoon, or the next 
morOlng. 

<l.:.. pid I not exprefs my furprize that my cook 
FrancIs frood open on the books for his provi­
lions, and ordered you to cheque him abfent with 
my leave? 

A. \Vhen I acquainted you that Mr. \Vynter 
objected to John Francis as well as the other per­
fons, you ordered me to cheque him immedi:ltely 
for the whole time he was abient. 

Here the evidence for the proiecution elofed, 
and, at the requeft of the prifoner, a letter was 
read from Mr. Stephens, fecrerary to th~ Admi­
ralty, directed to him, as late prefident of a court 
martial held at ~ebec, refpecting the fweJring 
the profecutor as an evidence, a copy of which 
letter is here alfo annexed. 

The prifoner was now put upon his defence, 
bur, before any witneffes were fwom, he ai1~ed 
leave to put the following queCcion to the CO~i[t : 

Whether the court think it neceffary the mafter 
fhould call upon me to produce the books of his 
lYlajefry's {hip Thifbe, to fublbntiate the ch;!.f2;c 
he has brought againft me? 

The court was here cleared, and weI'>:: of opinio:J. 
that there was no neceffity for the mai1:t'r to call 
for the books of his Majefl:/s £hip Thifbe, but 
that the court wifh to have th~I:J produced for 
their infpection. Here the books \yere produced, 
and were examined by the CGurt.-Tile court then 
being opened, a letter from the pr,j()"l ~!' to the 
Navy Office, accompanying tile c1.'Ho..;'s Monthly 

C Bouks. 
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Beoks for Augufl: and September, 1787; W:1S 

produced and read, an~ a Ie,trer from the com­
miffioners of the ]'\avy In anlwer thereto was alfo 
read, acquainting him they had received the faid 
books; copies of which letters arc hereunto an· 
ntxtd. The court then ordered Mr. THOMAS 
RUSSELL, captain's clerk of the Thiibe, to be 
called into coun, and examined~ as follows: 

Court.-Q.. Are thefe books of .your keeping? 
A. Yes. 

Q Are the Monthly Books for the months of 
A!l;.'u!tand September, 17°7, aerue copy of the 
Multer Book here produced? . 

;\. The Multer Bock here produced fhews the 
exaa !tate of the l\10nthly Books for Augu!t and 
September, to the bell of my knowledge, except 
ally errors may have arifen in copying. 

This evidence was then ordered to withdraw, 
and Mr. THOMAS HUCHENSON 
\VYNTER, ma!ter of his M;~e!ty's !hip 
Thifbe, was called into court, and {worn to 
give evidence on behalf of the prifoner; when 
the following que!tions were put by the 

Priloner.-Q Did I per[onally command you 
to ilgn the Multer Book? 

A. No, it was brought to me by your clerk. 

Q Did I ever command, counfe}, or procme 
you t,) make or fign the mufters fpecified in your 
(:harges, or any ether papers whatloever ? 

A. 1';0, they \Vere always lent by the clerk. 

0..:.. Did I ever aid or abet you in figning any 
mutter or muiler books? 

A. No. 
Q. When-



Q Whenever any books or papers were prefent­
ed to you to be figned, did I eVer hinder you 
from reading and examining them thoroughly? 

A. No. 

Q. What reafon did you give me for not fi2"l1-

ing the Mufier Book in queftion ? '--' 
A. Thomas and Chriitopher Carleton's bein~ 

rated able feamen, Guy and George Glrleton's 
being rated captain's fervants, and John Francis 
being muftered on the books. 

Q Did I not immediately order another book 
to be made out as foon as YOli had ftaredyour 
objections to the errors the formcr one containcd ? 

A. Yes. 
Q Did you not fign th;it book after it was 

made out? 
A. Yes. 

Q Was not that the Monthly Book for Augufl: 
and ::;eptember, 1787? 

A. Yes. 

Q Was not John Francis chequed for the 
"whole time he was abfc:nt as loon as you had made 
known tome that hewas muftered for his provifions? 

A. Yes-. 
0.:.. Have; you flver ferved with a captain who 

has been more careful in his fhip's account~ than 
I have, particularly in the expence oUlores, and 
in tranfinitting books and papers, at the proper 
periods, to the public boards..? 

A. No. 
0.:.. Do you know that there were. any l~rovi{jons 

iffued by the purfer to John Francls while he was 
abfent. or on his account? 

A. No, I cannot tell. 
C 2 Q.. Previous 
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Q Previous to the lhip's failing from England, 
did I not give up the rating of the !hip's com­
pany entirelv to you and the reft of the officers, 
and did I not rate every body agreeable to your 
opinion, but mates and midfhipman ? 

A. No, I never was aiked my opinion. 
Q When the Muaer Book in quefiion was 

altered, did you ever acquaint me of your inten­
tion to write to the commander in chief for a 
court martial on me ? 

A. No. 

Q Did you through me tranfmit your letter to 
~he admiral? 

A. No: 

Bere the court was cleared to confider the 
propriety of a quercion intended to be put 
by the prifoncr to the profecoror, which they 
think inadmiffible. The court bein2 aoain 

~ '" opened, Mr. Vlynter was ordered to with-
draw, ami Mr. WILLIAM MOORE, 
purler of his Majef!:y's !hip the Thifbe, W4S 
called by the prifoner and f worn. 

Prifoner.-Q Have I not frequently fignified 
to you that I i1wuld alw,l)"s avoid any thing in the 
!hip's books that could bear the leaf!: confiructiQn 
of a falfe mulCer? 

A. Yes, YOLI have frequently faid fo. 

Q Did you ever receive an order from me to 
"lic'uul the perfons mentioned in lhe charge in 
Auguf!: and September laf!:? 

A. No'* 

* It is the .practice of the [~rricc t? bear [err.ants on the fhips 
po(d.s,. cheql1lng. them for their proV1fions~ thpr wages being a 
part 01 the capra!l1S <lnd officers pay. . 

Q;. ~id 
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0..:. Did you not, on all other oeeafions, receive a 
note from my clerk in my name to viCtual every 
perfon a5 loon as he was entered agreeo.lble to the 
printed infiruCti.ms? 

A.) always either received a nnte or a verbal 
meffage, but generally a m·te to viCtual them. 

Q. Did you ever iffue provifions for the perfons 
mentioned in the charge? 

A. No. 

Q. Did I ever fignify to you that ),nurfelf or any 
other pe.rfon was to benefit by tho!c muHers ? 

A. Never. 

Q. \Yere not all my f"rvants actually on board 
when the fllip left England? 

A. Yes. 
Q: Did not I fbew a difpofition to correa i -

Ilantly the errors the rnafl:er faid lA'ltcd ir. the book 
prefen ted to him, as foon is they were known to me? 

A. You laid you would order them to be altered 
immediately. 

Q.. Was not the Monthly Book for All gll ft: and 
September, 1787, figned by ~he mafter the fume 
day, or the day after that he haJ objeCted to the 
one prefenred by my clerk? 

A. I bdieve it was that day or the next) but do 
not recoUea exact1 y. 

Q. Have you ever ferveo in any !hip where rhe 
captain has been more careful in the !hip's ace·,,: 'os 
than I have, to the beft of mv knowledt!C>, pM' C 1-

larly in the expenee of Uures, and in trall(g 
books and papers at the proper }ltr;c. doc:~ J~c p.,; ,C 

poards? , 
A No Ineverknewac '-'1 il -n .-~ -,r o 'c" i1 r rlA • , (.t}J" ,~L ~.~U!." ::.~ __ .... L ...J ' •• 

-1 _ ,is 
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This witnefs was now ordered to withdraw, and 
Mr. THOMAS RUSSEL, captain's clerk of 
his Majell:y's {hip Thifbe, again called into 
court to ,give evidence for the prifoner, and 
{worn. 

Prifoner.-Q. On my firll: taking the command 
of the Thifbe, and frequently afterwards, did I 
not tell you it was my intention carefully to avoid 
every thing in the {hip's books that might bear 
the leall: conll:ruCtion of a falfe mull:er ? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Previous to the 1hip's failing from England, 
did 1 not give up the rating of the ihip's company 
entirely to the officers, and did I not rate every 
body agreeable to their opinion, except mates and 
midfhipman? 

A. Yes. 

Q.. Did I ever give directions to the purfer to 
viCtual thofe perfons mentioned in the charge, or 
did you ever, in my name, or from yourfdf, give 
him a note for them to be viCtualled * ? 

A. An order was fent (Q the purrer to victual the 
three firft on their original entry in the ihip, but 
he had never any order (Q viCtual George Carleton 
or Guy Carleton in the months of Auguft and 
September 1aft. 

Q Was John Francis viCtualled from the time 
he left the fhip in Auguft until he returnecl in 
A pril !all: ? 

A, When the book was altered, he was chequed) 
and continued fo the whole time he was abfent. 

*' Their original entry was as part of lord Dorchefter's fa­
mily, borne for provilions on their pafl'age to America, by order 
of the lur-Is commil1ioncrs of the Admiralty. 

Q..Did 
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QDid I ever command, procure, or COHnrel the 
mafter to figr. any falfe mufter or mufter book? 

A. No; not to my know1edE.?e. 

Q.. Did I know that the mafter had wrote to the 
commander in chief for a court martial on me 
when I altered the Mufter Book?' 

A.No. 

Q Was I ever prefent at his Iigning the lhip's 
books? 

A. Never before Auguft and September lafT, 
and I believe but once fince. 

Q Did I ever hinder the mafter from reading 
and examining thoroughly all books and papers be­
fore he figned t~em ? 

A. Never to my knowledge. 

Q Were not all my fervants actually on board 
when the iliip left England? 

A. Yes. 

This witners was then ordered to withdraw, and 
here ended the evidence in behalf of the pri­
foner. 

The prifoner then requefted two letters might 
be read to the court, one from his excellency lord 
Dorchefier, the other from colonel Thomas Dun­
das,one of the commiffioners for Americanc1aims; 
copies of which are here annexed. Thefe being 
read, the prifoner then produced a written defence, 
which he requdled Fermiffion ii-om the court to 
read (a copy of wh ich defence is all0 hereunto an­
nexed.) Leave being given, he proceeded to read 
the fame. When th is was clone, it being late in' the 
afrernoon, the prefident adjourned the COllrt until 
,co-morrow morning at ten o'clock. 

THURSDAY, 



TIIURSDAY, 22dMay, 1788, 
10 o'Clock, A.M. 

The court affembled according to adjournment. 

T HE court being opened, and all the evidences 
called over, it was cleared to proceed to the 

conllderation of the evidence given; when having 
fat until half paft four o'clock, P. M. and iom~ 
doubts ariling to prevent the court coming to a 
final decilion on the fentence, they thou~~ht it: pro­
per to adjourn until to-morrow mormng at 10 

o'clock, h. M. and the court was adjourr.ed ac­
cordingly. 



F R'I DAY, z3d May, 17 88 , 

10 o'Clock, A. M. 

T HE court again a!fembled according to ad, 
journment, and being opened, and the evi­

dences called, the court was ordered to be cleared, 
to proceed in the confideration of the evidence 
given; and at 12 o'clock the court having very 
maturely and deliberately confidered of the evi­
dence in fupport of the charge. as well as on be~ 
half of the prifoner, and what he had to fay in his 
defence, as alfo his written defence read. and de­
livered into court-and the court, being now 
opened, is of opinion The charge is proved: but 
it appears to the court that the prifoner had no 
intention whatfoever of defrauding his majefty, 
nor was there any 10fs fuftained by his majefty 
from the faid mufters, which they are dearly of 
opinion takes off a great part of the crime of q. 
Falfe Mufter, and do therefore adjudge the laid 
qptain Ifaac Coffin co be difiniffed the command 
of his majefty's !hip th~ Thifbe. 

J. T Y SON, 

pepllty Judge Advocate. 

p Copy 



Copy of Mr. Thomas Huchenlon Wynte~'s ~e~ter 
to Rear Admiral Sawyer, Commander In ChIef, 
&c. &c. containing the Charge exhibited 
againft the prifoner. 

Thifbe, alongfide the Wharf at ~ebecJ 
. 2~th October, 1787-

SIR, 
I THINK it my duty ~o reprefent to you, as 

commander in' chief, the feveral inftances of falfe 
muners in the Monthly Book for Auguft and Sep­
tember, 1787, figned by Ifaac Coffin, erg. captain 
of his maje!1:y's !hip Thiibe; and which book was 
prefented tl) me by Mr. Thomas Ru{fell, his clerk, 
to be by me figned, purfuant to his directions, and 
which I refufed to do for the following reafons,viz. 

John Francis, Ab. abfent from the !hip for up­
wards of two months, during v.hich time he was 
borne for provifions and wages 011 the faid book. 

Secondly, Thomas Carleton, Ab. borne for 
wages and provifions alro, wherea~ no fuch perfon 
hath ever appeared. . 

Thirdly, Chriflopher Carleton, Ab. bo~ne un-
der thL like circumftances. ' 

Fourthly, Guy Carleton, captain's fervant. 

A~d, fifthly, George Carleton, captain's fervant, 
both of which art:: borne for provifions and wacres 
as aforefdid. . b 

Thefe inft~nces I confider as fully juftifying my 
refufal, as beIng contrary to the articles of war, and 
the general printed inftrlldions; and for \\ hich falje 

muJlers 
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Nluflers t have to requeft you will be pleafed to 
order a court martial on the faid Haac Coffin, efq. 

I have the honour to remain, . 
SIR, 

Your moll: obedient, 
And very humble [ervant, 

(Signed) THO. HUCHENSON WYNTER. 
Mafter of his Maje1~y's ihip Thilbe. 

To HERBERT SAWYER, Erq. 
Comm. and Commander in Chiet~ 
&c. &c. &c. Halifax. 

Copy of Mr. Stephens's Letter to Captain Coffin, 
as Prefident of a late Court Martial held at 
~ebec, refpecting the fwearing and e>camining 
a profecutor as an evidence. 

AdmiraIry-Office, 7th Nov. 17 87. 
SIR, 

HAVING communicated to my lords commif­
fioners of the Admir..:lty a letter figned by you and 
ocher membersof acotln martial a{fembJeoon board 
his majefry's fllip rlie Pegafus, off ~ebec, for the 
trial of the perlon therein mentioned, reprefenting 
that a doubt had arire!1, whetherthe prolecutorcould 
befworn as a wirnef!>,anu requefring their iorJdlips 
opinion thereupon; I arn in return co,·,·,IIl . .mded to 
acquaint you, that their lord Ih ips are clearly of opi­
nion, a profecmor may, with great propriety, be 
examined as an evidence at a court marcial. 

I am, 
SIR, 

Your very humble fervant, 
(Signed) PHILIP STEPHENS. 

Captain COffIN, Thifbe, ~ebec. 
D 'l Copy 
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Copy of Captain Coffin's Letter to the principal 

Officers and Commiffioners of his Majefty's 
Navy, accompanying the Thifbe's Monthly 
l300ks (or Auguft and September, 1787. Read 
to the Court. 

Thifbe, ~ebec, 28th Ofr. 1787' 
GENTLEMEN, 

By the !hip Carleton, of London, Alexander 
Paterton, mafter, I have herewith tranfmitted to 
your office a Monthly Mufter Book (or his Ma~ 
jefty's !hip Thifbe, under my command, for Au­
guft and September, 1787, together with four re­
mittance lifts. 

I am. 
Gentlemen, 

Your moft obedienr, 
Humble fervant, 

(Signed) ISAAC COFFIN. 
The priNcipal Officers and 

Commiffioners of his Ma­
jefty's Navy, London. 

Copy of a Letter from the Navy Office to Captain 
Coffin. Read to the Court. 

SIR, 
Navy Office, ::!2dJanuary, 1788. 

'VE have received your letter of the 28th oa. 
with the Mufter Book therein mentioned, whereon 
H:veral men are not defcribed, which we defire 
you will caule to be done in your next Mufter 
Book. 

We are, &c. &c. 

(Signed) GEORGE MARSH, 
E. LE CRAS. 

Captain COFFI\;, Thifbe, 
Hali!'ax. 

Copy 
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Copy of a Letter from his Excellency Guy Lord 
Dorche£l:er to Capt. Coffin. Read in Court •. 

SIR, 
~ebec, 27th April, 1788. 

HEARING that the ma£l:er of his Majefty's 
frigate under your command, has made objeCtions 
to ligning the filip's books with the names of my 
funs Thomas and Chriftopher inferted, I am to de­
fire they may be {huck off. Had I thought there 
had been the leaft impropriety in the meafure, I 
never fhould have afked it: on the contrary, have 
always l.1nder£l:ood that it was the con£l:ant pradice 
of the captains of the Navy, to enroll the names 
of young gentlemen intended for that fervice, in 
order to put them forward in their profeffion, at the 
fame time they were on fhare purfuing the mode of 
education adapted to the line oflife into which they 
were going to engage. Thomas, the elder of the 
two, having expreffed a delire to become a failor, 
he was fome years ago borne on the books of a 
guardfhip) commanded by captain Kingfmill, and 
continued on the books of the fame, or another 
guardfhip, till the time of his embarking on board 
the Thifbe, nor did I ever hear that any objetl:ion 
was made thereto. Chri!l:opher, hearing his bro­
ther declare his intentions of going into the Navy, 
expreffed a deflre of doi ng the fame; was accord· 
ino-Iy induced to requelt that he might alia be 
en~ered, thar, in cafe he perfevered in that inten­
rion, he might have the fame advantage: nor can 
I allow myJelf to think, in either cafe, I made an 
improper requdt. I am, with great regard, 

Your mo£l: obeJienr, 
Humble iervant, 

(Signed) DORCHESTER • .. 
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Copy of a Letter from Colonel Thomas Dundas, 
to Captain Coffin. Read in Court. 

Montreal, 21ft April, 1788. 
SIR, 

YOU R Cook Fran<,;;ois lefe this place fot 
~ebec yeO:erclay morning; where I hope he will 
arrive in full time to go to fea with you. Mr. 
Pemberton and I join in giving you many thanks 
for the loan of him. From the partiC\~Iar rtature 
of our prefent employment) moving frequently 
from place to place, we could have found no per ... 
fon who would have an(wered our purpofe fo well, 
and, indeed, at the moment you lent him to us, 
we were in difhefs for filch' a fervant. 

It is with furprize we learnt that this act of 
friend!hip to us had been made a matter of com­
plaint againO: you. Should you think it neceffary, 
you are at full liberty to produce this letter at 
your court marcial, as it may ferve to !hew this 
aCt of yours, which proceeded from friend!hip 
and attention, in its true light. I am, 

Sir, 
Your moO: obedient, 

Humble fervant, 
THOMAS DUNDAS. 

Captain COFFIN. 

The following is a Copy of Captain Coffin's written 
Defence, which he read arid delivered into Court. 

Mr. PrefiJent, and Gentlemen of the Court, 
THE mafl:er of his ;V1ajefl:y's {hip Thifbe has 

charged me with a crime highly di!honourable in 
its natl1r~, and of a very eVIl tendency to the king's 
ier~ icc. I have ferved in the Royal Navy fixteen 

years, 
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years, fix of which as poft captain, and, during 
that period, no fuch ftain ever contaminated my 
character. I !hall,not take up much of your at­
tention, by dwelling particularly on any part of the 
evidence which my accufer has brought againft me, 
fatisfied you are already clearly convinced, that 
~his perron, inftead of poifefiing that laudable zeal 
for his majeft:y's fervice that !hould aCtuate every 
good officer, has been led to exhibit thefe charges 
~gainft me from malicious and vindiCtive motives, 
as will plainly appear from my having always !hewn 
my abhorrence of doing any thing that could be 
conftrued a falfe multer, and my altering the book 
immediately ~gretabk to his objeCtions; and 
that, f)otwithftanding my compliance, he did, on 
the fame day, ~ri[e to tne commander in chltf 
for a court martial, without giving me the leaft 
intimation of his intentions. 

The ThiJbe's books, being now before the court, 
~ew the exaCt ftate of (he Monthly Bool .. that was 
tranlinitted to the Navy Office for Augull and 
September laft. The 1"\ avy Board's letter proves 
the receipt of that book, and 1 hope the court will 
coincide with my opiniQn, that, when any of the 
figning officers acquaint a captain with errors exift­
ing in the accounts committed to their infpection, 
and the captain alters immediately thole errors 
{igreeable to fuch objeCtions, and the rules of the 
fervice, there can be no caule of com.plaint. I 
profcfs myklf to afpire to, and have the ambition 
to be thought a zealous officer, and have always 
endeavoured to m'eric that confidence my fovereign 
has placed in me, by honouring me ".·ith the com­
mand of one of his majefty's frigates, without hav­
ing the moft diftant idea of committing a dilbo­
nourable action; and it pains me to be confirained 

to 
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to obferve, that from a mifunqerftanding which 
had ariJen between my officers (except the purftr) 
and myCelf, I conceive this charge ha~ taken its 
rile and been profecllted. The intent and mean­
ing of a falie muner is, whenever an officer figns 
a Muaer Book \\hich he knows to lc: falfe, and 
permits it to be forwarded to the Navy Board; 
this, I prefume, is the true interpretation of a 
Fal{e Muaer. To guard as much as polTiJle againfr 
inaccuracy, the inaruerions ha\ e very wifely di­
reered, that there fhall be feveral figning officers 
to a muller book. H:ld I, through overfight or 
inadvertency, figned a muaer that was not correct, 
and the mafl:er had afterwards figned rhe {:lme 
book, knolVing of an error, his would have been 
a fal1e fig-ning, mine would not; he fhould, as 
he did upon this oecaGon, inform me of the error, 
and I was hound, as I did, to correer it. 

I never begged, perfuaded, or threatened my ac­
cufer, to ind lice him to fign the book in quefl:ion ; 
no advantage could poffibly accrue to me from its 
being figned: I therefore rea fully affured the 
court will view this charge in its true light, vin­
diCl:i ve and malevolent, and not an act becoming 
the charaerer of an officer {hewing a true {pirit for 
his majeay\ fervice. I may, with great propriety, 
jullify myfelf in not having rent this book, nor am 
I fure you can take cognizance of the charge with. 
out that proof being before YOU; bur, having 
neither fraud nor deceit in my mind, I am under 
no concern to acknowledge, that the error might 
have continued in the Hate fet forth, had not the 
mailer very properly pointed it out. 

If a captain is to be accui"ed and brought before 
a conrt for [uch a charge as the prefenr, very pr~ca­

nous 
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nous, indeed, is every captain's fituation in the 
king's fervice, for I hold it not impofIible that an 
error may creep into a mufl:er book; for infl:ance, 
a wrong mufier letter. This may happen to the 
moft cautious, but he might himfelf, neverthelefs, 
b~ under the difagreeable necefIity of anfweringfor 
his conduct at a Court Martial for a triflinO" inac­
curacy, fafhioned into a crime by a bad r::an for 
the worLl of purpofes. The aCt it[elf, in the eye of 
the law, is e1Tential to conLlitute the crime j if fo 
I think it nece1Tary to produce a muller book fa 
completed and publifhed. 

I cruft, the expoficion of this charge is fufficiently 
fhong to prove, that the accufation againfl me ori­
ginated, not in truth for the fake of juf1:ice, but in 
malice for the fake of per[ecution. I hopt', there­
fore, you will confider it as malicious, frivolous, 
and ill founded, tending materially to injure the 
king's fervice, by throwing impediments in the way 
of a captain in the execution of his duty; and had 
it not been for the great difcernment of my Com­
mander in Chief, I might have been a prifoner in 
my cabin for the .[pace of fix months, fubject t() 
every fpecies of intuIt. 

You muf1: naturally conel ude, that my reputation 
is dearer to me than my life j therefore, if you think 
the charge has not been proved, I hope to be ho­
nourably acquitted; if it has, and YOll believe I 
have wilfully deviated from the line of duty pre­
fcribed me by the articles of war and printed in­
frruCl:ions, I ought to fuffer the fevereft 1entence a 
court can bellow. 

I rely, with firmnefs, on the well-known inte­
grity, candour, /lnd honour, of a Britifh Naval 
Court Mart1al, knowing it muft judge of the ~11'-

E my 
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rity of my intentions by t~e proofs t~at have been 
adduced, and with plealure commIt my fate to 
their decifion. 

(Signed) ISAAC COFFIN. 
A true Copy. 

AtaCourt Martial affemhled and held on board his 
Majefty's fuip Dido, in Halifax Harbour,.Nova 
Scotia, the 21ft day of May, and by adJourn~ 
ment until the 23d day of May, 178~~ 

PRESENT, 
CHARLES SANDYS, Erg. fenior captain of 

his Majefty's 1hips and vdfe1s in Halifax har .. 
bour, Nova Scotia, prefident ; 

Captains Sir JAMES BARCLAY, Bart. 
PAUL MINCHIN, 
SAMUEL HOOD, 
FD\\7 i'lRD BULLER. 

THE court, in purfuance of an order from Her~ 
bert Sawyer, efg. rear admiral of the white, com­
mander in chief, &c. &c. &c. dated 16th day of 
May, 1788, and directed to Charles Sandys, efq. 
Jenior captain of his Majeity's 1hips and veffels in 
Halifax harbour, proceeded to try lfaac Coffin, 
erq. captain of his Majefty's 1hip the Thifbe, on 
a charge exhibited againft him by Mr. Thomas 
Huchenfon Wynter, mafter of the faid iliip, for 
falle mufters in feveral inftances; and, having 
heard the evidence in fupport of the charge, as 
..-ell as on behalf of the prifoner, and what he had 
to fay in his defence, as alfo his written defence 
delivered into coure, and having very maturely and 
deliberately confidered the fame, are of opinion 
The charge is proved: but it appears to the court, 

that 
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that the prifoner had no intention whatfoever of 
defrauding his Majeil:y, nor was there any 10fs 
fuil:ained by his Majetty from the faid Muil:ers, 
which they are clearly of opinion takes off a great 
part of the crime of a Falfe M uil:er; and therefore 
the court do adjudge him the faid Ifaac Coffin to be 
difmiffed from the command of his Majefty's fhip 
Thifbe j and he is hereby difmiffed from the com­
mand of the faid fhip accordingly. Given on board 
his Majefty's fhip Dido, Halifax harbour, Nova 
Scotia, the 23d May, 1'788. 

(Signed) CHARLES SANDYS, 
JAMES BARCLAY, 
P. MINCHIN, 
SAMUEL HOOD, 
EDWARD BULLER. 

JOHN TYSON, 
Deputy Judge Advocate. 

A true Copy. 
PHIL. STEPHENS. 

E~ July, 
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READ a letter from rear admiral Sawyerj COlTI~ 
mander in chief of his Majefty's lhips in 

North America, dated at Halifax the 2Jd May 
laft, inclofing the fentence of a court martial held 
on board his MajeUy's fhip the Dido, the 2 I ft day 
of that month, for the trial of Haae Coffin, efq. 
captain of his Majefiy's lhip Thifbe, upon a 
charge for falfe n~ufters, of which the following is 
a tranfcript. 

The court, in purfuance of an order from 
Herbert Sawyer, efq. rear admiral of the white, 
COmI11qllger in chief, &c. &c. dated 16th day of 
May, I7 8 8, and directed to Charles Sandys, Efq. 
fenior captain of his Majefty's {hips and veffels in 
Halifax harbour, proceeded to try Haae Coffin, 
efg. captain of his Majefty's fhip the Thifbe, on a 
charge exhibited againfi him by Mr. Thomas 
Huchenfon '''ynter, mafter of the faid {hip, for 
falfe mufters, in feveral inftances; and having 
heard the evidence in fupport of the charge, as well 
as on behalf of the prifoner, and what he had to 
fay in his defen/ce, as alfo his written defence de­
livered into court; and having very maturely and 
deliberately confidered the fame, are of opinion 
the charge is proved: but it appears to the court, 
that the prifoner had no intention whatfoever of 
defrauding his l\Jajefty; nor was there any 10fs 
fuftained by his lVlajel1y from the (aid mufiers, 
which, they are clearly of opinion, takes off a 
great part of the crime of a falfe Multer; and, 
therefore, the CO\.lrt do adjudge him) the fai~ 

Ifaac 
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Ifaac Coffin, to be difmiffed frorn the command of 
his Majefty's !hip Thifbe; and he is hereby dif­
miffed from the command of the faid fhip ac .. 
cotdingly. 

The board having, thereupon, recourfe to the 
31 ft article of the articles of war, eftablifhed by 
an act of the 22d Geo. II. exprefsly declaring, that 
every officer or other perf on in the fieet, who 
fhall knowingly make, or fign, a fa1fe Mufter or 
Muller Book, or who fi1all command, counfel, or 
procu~e the making or figning thereof, or: who 
fhall aId or abet any other perfon in the making or 
figning thereof, fhall, upon proof of any fuch of. 
(ence being made before a court martial, be 
cafhiered, and rendered incapable of further em­
ployment in his Majefty's naval fervice, are of 
opinion, that the charge exhibited againll captain 
Coffin being proved, the court had no authority to 
mitigate or vary the puni!hment impofed by the 
article of war above recited, and therefore confider 
him to be cailiiered and rendered incapable of 
further employment in his Majefty's naval fervice. 

Refolved, 

That the faid lfaac Coffin, efq. be fhuck off the 
lift of captains of his Maje1ty'$ fleet. 

The 
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The Right Honourable the Lords Com ... 
miffioners for executing the Office of 
Lord High Admiral of Great Britain. 

The memorial of Ifaac Coffin, late Cap. 
tain of his Majefty's !hip Thifbe 

Sheweth, 

T HAT your memorialift was, in purfuance of 
:m order of Herbert Sawyer, Efq; rear admiral of 
,the white, &c. &c. dated the 16th day of May, 
1788, in Halifax Harbour, Nova Scotia, tried 
by a court martial, on a charge exhibited againft 
him by Mr. Thomas Huchenfon Wynter, mafter 
of the faid !hip, for feveral inftances of faife 
Mufrers in the Mc;mthly Books for Auguft and 
September 1787, figned by your memorialifr. 

That the court after fitting from the:21 fr to 
the Z3d of the fame month of May, and having 
heard the evidence in fupport of the charge, as 
well as on behalf of the prifoner, and what he 
had to fay in his defence, as alfo his written de­
fence delivered into court; and having very 
maturely and deliberately confide red the fame, 
were of opinion the cbarge 'v),H proved, but it 
appearing co the court that the pnfoner had no it< 

* He is declared innocent as to intention; he is declared in­
-nocent as to any wrong, by which the pu:,lic could fuffer a lof,; 
but he did an ad. What? An att di\dl~d of all criminal im­
putation; an act, correded as foon 35 it was qucllioned; an ad 
not before the public: a mere propofition to do what he conceiv­
ed he might do, and what, in fact, he did not do.-Vide evi­
dence brought by the profecutor, lhewing the returns made to 
have been correded -and figned by the mailer himfelf. 

intention 
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intention whatever of defrauding his majefty, and 
there was no lojs fulhined by his majefty from the 
[aid Mu!l:ers, which they v,ere clearly of opinion 
took off' a great part of the crime of a falfe Muf­
ter; and the court did therefore adjudge your 
memorialift to be difinilTed from the command of 
his majefty's fllip Thifbe, and he was thereupon 
difmilTed from the command of the faid iliip 
accordingly. 

That your memoriali!l: fame time after his ar. 
rival in England in June Lft, to his great fur. 
prize and regret was informed, that the Lotds of 
rhe Admiralty, notwithftanding the above-men .. 
tioned fentence had been pafftd by the court 
martial, had refolved, that for the [aid offence, 
your memoriali!l:'s name fl10uld be fhuck off the 
lilt of poft-captains of his Majt"11 y's Navy; which 
refolution againft your memorialift implies, as he 
conceives, a difqualification from ever again [erv­
ing in his Majefty's Navy. Of fueh new judg­
ment having ever been given by the Lords of the 
Admiralty, in correCtion of the judgment of a 
court martial, your memorialift is advifed there 
is no inftance; n;;r 0 n any analogous inftance be 
found in the procpedings of any other fuperior 
court in the kinQ. :om, which often reverie the 
erroneous jw Igme~lts of inferior courtS, bur never 
pronounce new ones; that your memorial!l: con­
ceives it wt'uld be extremely hard, that without 
hearing \,our memoriaji(l-, the Lords of [be Admi­
ralty !bould add to his puniiliment, in a cafe 
where they have no power to alter the fentl'nce in 
his favour, and before your memoflalift has had 
an opportunity of fubmitting to them any circum. 

fiances 



[ 4 0 ] 

ftan~es in his own favour-for fuch he conceives 
to exift. 

That the refolution againfl: your memorialift 
he humbly hopes may and ought to be refcind­
ed, becaufe there is a material and obvious dif­
ference between an order iffuing from your lord-
1hips on your own perfuafion of the unfitneCs of 
Q perfon to ferve in the navy; and an order you 
may ground on conftruCtion of the proceedings 
of a court martial-in the one cafe your con­
viction decides the fact, and in the other you 
render to the court martial an act the court has 
not done, nor had in contemplation to do; and 
this, a 1hort review of the cafe of your me­
morialift, will make evident. 

For the rencence of the court martial exprefsly 
declares your memoriali1t free of atl criminal in­
tention, and the publicfervice not damnified by any 
of his acts; but, that the charge fixing upon hirn 
the imputation of making falfe Mufters is proved, 
and therefore he is adjudged to be difiniffed the 
command of his majefty's frigate. Your me­
morialift complains of the feverity and injuftice 
of this rentence. 

I ft. Becaufe the court had no authority to in­
fliCt fuch punifhment. 

zd. Becaufe the rentence ought to have de­
clared what the fact is, A full and explicit 
acquittal of your memorialift having acted 
in breach of the J Ifl article of the Articles 
of War, orherwile the court could not 
have difpenfed with carrying the law on 
that article into execution. 

ad. Becaufe 
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Jd. Becaufe after the full and explicit acquitt:,j 
implied by the fentence, it proceeds rei 
puniih your memorialift for acts the h\\! 

does not recogni~e, but on which th~ 
court affume a felf-conLhtuted power to 
decide and puniOl. 

Your memorialift might with confidence affirm, 
whatever of flladow lhall appear, the fubftance is 
wanting to render the crime defined by the 3 I ft: 
Article of the Articles of War, which bvs, "that 
" falfe muLter muft knowi.lgly and with "ddicyn be 
made, counfelled o{ procured to be mac.le; 6:c. 
&c. &c." 

That your memoriali£l: did not knowingl}', or 
with delign, commit the wrong againLl the pub­
lic fervice which this law proferlbes is in full 
evidence on the proceedings of the Court.-
. Your memorialiLl concei\'ed from the p::r~icul.lr 
fituations of the individuals, whore names he prl)­
pofed to include in his returns, that he might do 
fa; but when he found the act que!tiollable, \\hich 
it is 'clear he did not apprehend to be fa, uncil it 
was objected to (for he offered it without any 
preparation, or' uling any fpeeies of influence to 
give it effecl:) he immediately ordered his books 
to be correCted and to conform to the Mafter's 
ideas. 

A falfe muller of any fpecies or defcription was 
not in your memorialift's intenrion. His object 
~va~ to oblige a nobleman by any aCt of grati(tJd~ 
jn his power, for favours he had received, and the 
{'ircumLlance of his cook lent to the commiffioners 
Me being on board is explained by the commif­
Eoner's letter, as well as the circllmftances under 
~hich he propofed to bear the Carleton5 on hi; 

F iliip_ 
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~'1I1;' are explained by a letter from Lord Dor­
(hdtcr-in fall your memorialift had not any de­
jigll to return a falfe mufter, and in :!ru-tb, as ap­
pears by the evidence of the profecutor, he 11CVCl' 

did return a falre mufter. 
Your memorialift moft humbly entreats your 

Lordl11ips to take his cafe into your fcrious con­
fideration, and to reftqre your memorialift to his 
fonner rlnk in the Navy, and your memoria.!:ift, as 
~n duty bound. fual! ever pray, &c. &c. &c. 

ISA1'..C COFfIN~ 




